

INDEX

 $PART\ A: Statutory\ Auditor\ Appointment\ Policy$

Part B : Other Audit Policy



PART ASTATUTORY AUDITOR APPOINTMENT POLICY

Statutory Auditor Appointment Policy

Page 1 of 10

CONTENTS

1.	Objective	. 4
2.	Effective Date	. 4
3.	Review	. 4
4.	Definitions	. 4
5.	Prior Approval of RBI	. 5
6.	Number of SAs and Branch Coverage	. 5
7.	Eligibility Criteria of Auditors	. 5
8.	Independence of Auditors	. 7
9.	Professional Standards of SAs	. 8
10.	Tenure and Rotation	. 8
11.	Audit Fees and Expenses	. 8
12.	Statutory Auditor - Appointment Procedure	. 9
Ann	exure I	

Annexure II

1. Objective

This policy is issued with the objective to comply with requirement of circular number DoS.CO. ARG/SEC.01/08.91.001/2021-22 on Guidelines for Appointment of Statutory Central Auditors (SCAs)/Statutory Auditors(SAs) of Commercial Banks excluding RRBs), UCBs and NBFCs (including HFCs) dated April 27, 2021, applicable provisions of Banking Regulation Act, 1949 and Companies Act, 2013 and defines procedure to be followed for appointment of SCAs/SAs.

2. Effective Date

This policy will be applicable for Financial Year 2021-22 onwards.

3. Review

This policy will be reviewed at least once each year or such other shorter period as may be required from time to time.

4. Definitions

"Audit Committee" means the Audit Committee of the Board.

"Board" means Board of Directors of the company.

"Statutory Auditors (SAs)" mean auditors appointed as per the policy to conduct statutory audit of the company.

"RBI circular" means RBI circular RBI/2021-22/25 Ref No. DOS.CO.ARG/ SEC.01/ 08.91.001/ 2021-22. dated April 27, 2021

Group entities refer to the RBI Regulated Entities in the Group and shall mean two or more entities related to each other through any of the following relationships, viz. Subsidiary – parent (defined in terms of AS 21), Joint Venture (defined in terms of AS 27), Associate (defined in terms of AS 23), Promoter-promotee [as provided in the SEBI (Acquisition of Shares and Takeover) Regulations, 19971 for listed companies, a related party (defined in terms of AS 18), Common brand name, and investment in equity shares of 20% and above. [Note: "AS" means Accounting Standard notified under Companies Act, 20131

Potential Conflict of Interest – Potential Conflict of Interest, with reference to a firm that is being considered for appointment as SCAs/ SA, may arise, in any of the following circumstances:

- i) the firm is engaged with audit/non-audit works for a Group Entity which is not regulated by RBI
- ii) the audit firm was engaged with audit/non-audit works for a Group Entity which is not regulated by RBI, and not more than one year has elapsed since the completion/ relinquishment of such engagement
- iii) a partner of the firm is a director in any of the Group Entities which are not regulated by RBI

5. Prior Approval of RBI

While NBFCs do not have to take prior approval of RBI for appointment of SCAs/SAs, all NBFCs need to inform RBI about the appointment of SCAs/SAs for each year by way of a certificate in Form A within one month of such appointment.

6. Number of SAs

Minimum number of SAs to be appointed by the company shall be two if the company's asset size as on March 31 of previous year, is Rs.15,000 crore or more; else, minimum of one SA shall be appointed. The company shall ensure that joint auditors do not have any common partners and they are not under the same network of audit firms. The company shall finalize the work allocation among SAs, before the commencement of the statutory audit, in consultation with their SAs.

The number of SAs to be appointed for a financial year shall be decided, inter alia, taking into account the relevant factors such as the size and spread of assets, accounting and administrative units, complexity of transactions, level of computerization, availability of other independent audit inputs, identified risks in financial reporting, etc. The actual number of SAs to be appointed shall be decided by Board subject to the following limits:

Asset Size of the Company	Maximum No. of Auditors
Upto Rs 5,00,000 crore	4
Above Rs 5,00,000 crore and upto Rs10,00,000 crore	6
Above Rs 10,00,000 crore and upto Rs 20,00,000 crore	8
Above Rs 20,00,000 crore	12

7. Eligibility Criteria of Auditors

The minimum standards and eligibility norms for audit firms to be appointed as SAs shall be, as given below:

Basic Eligibility

Asset Size of Entity as on 31st March of Previous Year	Minimum No. of Full- Time partners (FTPs) associated with the firm for a period of at least three (3) years Note 1	Out of total FTPs, Minimum No. of Fellow Chartered Accountant (FCA) Partners associated with the firm for a period of at least three (3) years	Minimum No. of Full Time Partners/ Paid CAs with CISA/ISA Qualification Note 2	Minimum No. of years of Audit Experience of the firm Note 3	Minimum No. of Professional staff Note 4
Above Rs.	5	4	2	15	18

15,000 cr					
Above Rs. 1,000 cr but up to Rs. 15,000	3	2	1	8	12
Up to Rs. 1,000 cr	2	1	1*	6	8

Note 1:

There should be at least one-year continuous association of partners with the firm as on the date of shortlisting for considering them as full time partners. Further, at least two partners of the firm shall have continuous association with the firm for at least 10 years. The full-time partner's association with the firm would mean exclusive association. The definition of 'exclusive association' will be based on the following criteria:

- a) The full-time partner should not be a partner in other firm/s.
- b) She / He should not be employed full time / part time elsewhere.
- c) She / He should not be practicing in her/his own name or engaged in practice otherwise or engaged in other activity which would be deemed to be in practice under Section 2(2) of the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949.
- d) ACB shall examine and ensure that the income of the partner from the firm/LLP is adequate for considering them as full-time exclusively associated partners, which will ensure the capability of the firm for the purpose.

Note 2:

CISA/ISA Qualification: There should be at least one-year continuous association of paid CAs with CISA/ISA qualification with the firm as on the date of shortlisting for considering them as paid CAs with CISA/ISA qualification for the purpose.

Note 3:

Audit Experience: Audit experience shall mean experience of the audit firm as Statutory Central/Branch Auditor of Commercial Banks (excluding RRBs)/AIFIs. In case of merger and demerger of audit firms, merger effect will be given after 2 years of merger while demerger will be effected immediately for this purpose.

Note 4:

Professional Staff: Professional staff includes audit and article clerks with knowledge of book-keeping and accountancy and who are engaged in on-site audits but excludes typists/stenos/computer operators/ secretaries/subordinate staff, etc. There should be at least one-year continuous association of professional staff with the firm as on the date of shortlisting for considering them as professional staff for the purpose.

Additional Consideration

- (i) The audit firm, proposed to be appointed as SAs, should be duly qualified for appointment as auditor of a company in terms of Section 141 of the Companies Act, 2013.
- (ii) The audit firm should not be under debarment by any Government Agency, National Financial Reporting Authority (NFRA), the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI), RBI or Other

- Financial Regulators.
- (iii) The company shall ensure that appointment of SAs is in line with the ICAI's Code of Ethics/any other such standards adopted and does not give rise to any conflict of interest.
- (iv) If any partner of a Chartered Accountant firm is a director in an RBI Regulated group Entity, the said firm shall not be appointed as SA of the company. Company shall, as part of the process for selection of firms for appointment as SAs, obtain appropriate disclosures in this regard, including details of directorships in Group Entities that are not regulated by RBI.
- (v) SAs should have capability and experience in deploying Computer Assisted Audit Tools and Techniques (CAATTs) and Generalized Audit Software (GAS), commensurate with the degree/ complexity of computer environment of the Bank in order to achieve audit objectives.

Continued Compliance with basic eligibility criteria

In case any audit firm (after appointment) does not comply with any of the eligibility norms (on account of resignation, death etc. of any of the partners, employees, action by Government Agencies, NFRA, ICAI, RBI, other Financial Regulators, etc.), it shall promptly approach the company with full details. Further, the audit firm shall take all necessary steps to become eligible within a reasonable time and in any case, the audit firm should be complying with the above norms before commencement of Annual Statutory Audit for Financial Year ending 31st March and till the completion of annual audit.

In case of any extraordinary circumstance after the commencement of audit, like death of one or more partners, employees, etc., which makes the firm ineligible with respect to any of the eligibility norms, the company may approach RBI, to allow the concerned audit firm to complete the audit, as a special case.

8. Independence of Auditors

The Audit Committee of the Board (ACB) shall monitor and assess the independence of the auditors and conflict of interest position in terms of relevant regulatory provisions, standards and best practices. Any concerns in this regard may be flagged by the ACB to the Board of Directors and concerned Senior Supervisory Manager (SSM)/Regional Office (RO) of RBI.

The time gap between any non-audit works (services mentioned at Section 144 of Companies Act, 2013, Internal assignments, special assignments, etc.) by the SAs for the company or any audit/non-audit works for its group entities should be at least one year, before or after its appointment as SAs. This stipulation will be applicable from FY 2022-23. However, during the tenure as SA, an audit firm may provide such services to the company which may not normally result in a conflict of interest, and the company will take a decision in this regard, in consultation with the ACB.

A conflict would not normally be created in the case of the following special assignments (indicative list):

- (i.) Tax audit, tax representation and advice on taxation maters,
- (ii.) Audit of interim financial statements.
- (iii.) Certificates required to be issued by the statutory auditor in compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements.
- (iv.) Reporting on financial information or segments thereof.

However, if an audit firm is involved in any non-audit work with the company and/or any audit/non-audit work in other RBI Regulated Group Entities and completes or relinquishes the said assignment prior to the date of appointment as SA of the company for FY 2021-22, the said audit firm would be eligible for appointment as SA of the company for FY 2021-22.

The restrictions as detailed in paragraphs above, will also apply to an audit firm under the same network (As defined in Rule 6(3) of the Companies (Audit & Auditors) Rules, 2014) of audit firms or any other audit firm having common partners.

9. Professional Standards of SAs

The SAs shall be strictly guided by the relevant professional standards in discharge of their audit responsibilities with highest diligence.

The ACB shall review the performance of SAs on an annual basis. Any serious lapses / negligence in audit responsibilities or conduct issues on part of the SAs or any other matter considered as relevant shall be reported to RBI within two months from completion of the annual audit. Such reports shall be sent with the approval / recommendation of the ACB, with the full details of the audit firm.

In the event of lapses in carrying out audit assignments resulting in misstatement of financial statements, and any violations/lapses vis-à-vis the RBI's directions/guidelines regarding the role and responsibilities of the SAs in relation to company, the SAs would be liable to be dealt with suitably under the relevant statutory/regulatory framework.

10. Tenure and Rotation

In order to protect the independence of the auditors/audit firms, company shall appoint the SAs for a continuous period of three years, subject to the firms satisfying the eligibility norms each year. If the company removes the SCAs/SAs before completion of three years tenure, it shall inform concerned SSM/RO at RBI about it, along with reasons/justification for the same, within a month of such a decision being taken.

An audit firm would not be eligible for reappointment for six years (two tenures) after completion of full or part of one term of the audit tenure. (In case an audit firm has conducted audit of the company for part-tenure (1 year or 2 years) and then not appointed for remainder tenure, they also would not be eligible for reappointment in the company for six years from completion of part-tenure.)

An audit firm proposed to be appointed as SA of the company, can concurrently take up statutory audit of a maximum of four Commercial Banks [including not more than one PSB or one All India Financial Institution (NABARD, SIDBI, NHB, EXIM Bank) or RBI], eight UCBs and eight NBFCs during a particular year, A group of audit firms having common partners and/or under the same network, will be considered as one entity. Shared/Sub-contracted audit by any other/associate audit firm under the same network of audit firms is not permissible. The incoming audit firm shall not be eligible if such audit firm is associated with the outgoing auditor or audit firm under the same network of audit firms.

11. Audit Fees and Expenses

The audit fees for SAs shall be decided in terms of the relevant statutory/regulatory provisions. The audit fees for SAs shall be reasonable and commensurate with the scope and coverage of audit, size and spread of assets, accounting and administrative units, complexity of transactions, level of computerization, identified risks in financial reporting, etc.

The Board/ACB shall make recommendation to the competent authority (By Shareholders in AGM) as per the relevant statutory/regulatory instructions for fixing audit fees of SAs.

12. Statutory Auditor - Appointment Procedure

Process for appointment of New firm as SAs

Requests will be sent out to Audit firms, subject to fulfilling the eligibility criteria, to present their credentials to the company. Recommendations of short-listed audit firms will be made to the ACB. ACB will select the audit firm(s) in order of preference indicating their names against the vacancy. ACB shall select minimum of 2 audit firms for every vacancy of SAs so that even if firm at first preference is found to be ineligible/ refuses appointment, the firm at second preference can be appointed and the process of appointment of SAs does not get delayed.

General process to be followed:

The company shall obtain a certificate, along with relevant information as per Form B (Annexure I), from the audit firm(s) proposed to be appointed/ reappointed as SAs, to the effect that the audit firm(s) complies with all the eligibility norms prescribed by RBI for the purpose. Such certificate should be signed by the main partner/s of the audit firm proposed for appointment/ reappointment of SAs of the company, under the seal of the said audit firm.

The company shall verify the compliance of audit firm(s) to the eligibility norms prescribed by RBI for the purpose and after being satisfied of their eligibility, recommend the names to ACB/Board.

(Annexure I) FORM B

Eligibility Certificate from (Name and Firm Registration Number of the firm)

A. Particulars of the firm:

Asset Size of	Number of	Out of total	Number of	Number of	Number of
Entity as on	Full-Time	FTPs, Number	Full Time	Years of Audit	Professional
31st March of	partners	of FCA	Partners/ Paid	Experience#	staff
Previous Year	(FTPs)	Partners	CAs with		
	associated*	associated	CISA/ISA		
	with the firm	with the firm	Qualification		
	for a period of	for a period			
	three (3)	of three (3)			
	years	years			

^{*}Exclusively associated in case of all Commercial Banks (excluding RRBs), and UCBs/NBFCs with asset size of more than ₹ 1,000 crore

#Details may be furnished separately for experience as SCAs/SAs and SBAs

B. Additional Information:

- (i.) Copy of Constitution Certificate.
- (ii.) Whether the firm is a member of any network of audit firms or any partner of the firm is a partner in any other audit firm? If yes, details thereof.
- (iii.) Whether the firm has been appointed as SCA/SA by any other Commercial Bank (excluding RRBs) and/or All India Financial Institution (AIFI)/RBI/NBFC/UCB in the present financial year? If yes, details thereof.
- (iv.) Whether the firm has been debarred from taking up audit assignments by any regulator/Government agency? If yes, details thereof.
- (v.) Details of disciplinary proceedings etc. against firm by any Financial Regulator/Government agency during last three years, both closed and pending.

C. Declaration from the firm

The firm complies with all eligibility norms prescribed by RBI regarding appointment of SCAs/SAs of Commercial Banks (excluding RRBs)/UCBs/NBFCs (as applicable). It is certified that neither I nor any of our partners / members of my / their families (family will include besides spouse, only children, parents, brothers, sisters or any of them who are wholly or mainly dependent on the Chartered Accountants) or the firm / company in which I am / they are partners / directors# have been declared as wilful defaulter by any bank / financial institution.

It is confirmed that the information provided above is true and correct.

Signature of the Partner (Name of the Partner)

Date:

For the purpose of this declaration, the credit facilities availed by companies where the partner of a firm has been appointed as non-executive director in a professional capacity having no financial interest shall not be included.

(Annexure II) FORM A

as Statutory Central Auditor (SCA)/Statutory Auditor (SA) for the financial year for last/2nd/3rd term. 2. The company has obtained eligibility certificate from (name and Firm Registration Number of the audit firm appointed as SCA/SA of the company for FY along with relevant information in the format as prescribed by 3. The firm has no past association/association for years with the company as SCA/SA/SBA. 4. The company has verified the said firm's compliance with all eligibility norms prescribed by RBI for appoint of SCAS/SAs of NBFCs. Signature (Name and Designation) Date:	thair
appointed as SCA/SA of the company for FYalong with relevant information in the format as prescribed by 3. The firm has no past association/association for years with the company as SCA/SA/SBA. 4. The company has verified the said firm's compliance with all eligibility norms prescribed by RBI for appointed SCAs/SAs of NBFCs. Signature (Name and Designation)	tileli
4. The company has verified the said firm's compliance with all eligibility norms prescribed by RBI for appoint of SCAs/SAs of NBFCs. Signature (Name and Designation)	
of SCAs/SAs of NBFCs. Signature Name and Designation)	
	nent



PART B

OTHER AUDIT POLICY



CONTENTS

1.	Objective	14
2.	Applicability	14
3.	Appointment Process	14
4.	Audit Scope	15
5.	Audit Plan	16
6.	Audit Sampling	17
7.	Audit Report	17
8.	Access to Information	18
9.	Documentation of Audit	18
10.	Audit Fees	18
11.	Certifications/ other Audit/ concurrent audit	18
12.	Performance Evaluation of Internal Auditors	19
13.	Conflict of interest	19
Ann	exure I	20



1. Objective:

The objective of this Policy is to set out the framework ensuring independence of auditors, avoiding conflict of interest in auditor's appointments and to improve the quality and standards of audit; help in streamlining the procedure for appointment of auditors other than Statutory Auditors such as Internal Auditors, or any other auditors appointed by the Company Suo motu or as per applicable laws and ensuring that appointments are made in a timely, transparent, and effective manner as provided under various Laws, Companies Act 2013; and all other applicable acts and regulations, directions, circulars thereunder.

2. Applicability

Policy shall become effective for all the appointments / reappointments / Audits from the date of adoption of the same by the Board. This policy will be read with Internal Guidelines on Corporate Governance approved by the Board of the company from time to time and Statutory Auditors Appointment Policy. In the matter of conflict, the law will prevail over the said policies.

3. Appointment Process

The Audit Committee of the Board (ACB) shall consider the following factors before appointment of Internal Auditors:

- a) Applicable RBI Guidelines as amended from time to time.
- b) Written consent of the auditor to such appointment.
- c) The appointment of Auditors shall follow Institute of Chartered Accountants of India's) (ICAI's); Code of Ethics/ Code of Conduct and any other professional standards adopted by applicable institutes.
- d) Adherence to the Period of Appointment and applicable interim gaps before reappointments as applicable under RBI Regulations and Company Law.
- e) Any other applicable regulations for the Private Company/NBFC ML from time to time
- f) Approval for Appointment / Reappointment
 - The Company shall shortlist audit firms for every vacancy as per the RBI Directions and other applicable guidelines as amended from time to time
 - The Company shall obtain declaration of independence along with relevant information from the audit firms proposed to be appointed/reappointed by the Company.
 - The appointment of Auditors shall be approved by the Board upon recommendations of ACB or applicable authority under prevailing law.
 - Auditors once appointed shall be eligible to continue in office or be considered for reappointment and approved by Board / ACB as the case may be.

4. Audit Scope

a) Scope of Internal Audit



The scope of internal audit shall ensure examination and evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Internal Control System, financials Controls, Risk management and mitigation tools. Further the quality of execution in carrying out assigned responsibilities at the organizational, departmental and functional level.

Scope will be discussed in detail and agreed before commencement of audit between the Company/ NBFC and Auditors. While discussing Scope of Audit the IA shall take updates from Company / NBFC on the actions taken vis a vis observations received from Regulators during inspections. Such observations shall be covered in the scope of IA. The same shall also be placed before ACB for approval.

The Scope may cover following:

- Adherence to the Internal Audit Standards issued by various regulators, including but not limited to ICAI or other professional bodies or institutes under Special Acts in the regard.
- Assessing compliance with laws and regulations & policies, plans, and procedures.
- Monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of the Company's various risk management processes.
- Reviewing specific operations, programs, functions, activities, new products, new ventures or projects at the request/ directions of the Audit Committee / Internal Auditors / Chief Executive Officer.
- Investigating and reporting on violations of policies and procedures, errors, fraud or misuse of company assets.

5. Audit Plan

Upon appointment, the auditors must chart out Audit Plan in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer who may consult Officer or other department heads depending upon the type of areas for the Internal Audits. While drawing Audit Plan respective departments shall ensure that the critical activities of the company are audited at least once a year.

Audit Plan shall cover specific information relating to the scheduled timings and frequencies of Audit, extent of Audit Procedure to be performed and areas to be covered. Audit Plan may cover in its purview any of the types of Risks such as Business Risk or Credit Risk or Market Risk or Revenue Risk or Liquidity Risk or Business Strategy Risk or Operational Risk or Internal Control Risk or Compliance Risk or Technology Risk to be covered in the Audit Plan.

6. Audit Sampling



The internal auditor should design and select an audit sample, perform audit procedures thereon, and evaluate sample results to provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to meet the objectives of the internal audit engagement.

- When designing an audit sample, the internal auditor should consider the specific audit objectives, the population from which the internal auditor wishes to sample, and the sample size.

7. Audit Report

Reporting requirement of internal audit may cover, but should not be limited to following aspects: An audit report shall be prepared by the IA following the conclusion of each audit.

The report will be finalized after discussion with the CFO for activity under review;

The IA shall categorize its audit observations into risk categories. The Risk Categories shall be as per grading criteria i.e. High / Medium / Low as discussed between the Audit Teams and NBFC depending upon the business requirements. (table to be interred from IA report) The management responses shall include a timeframe for anticipated completion of the action to be taken for irregularities which can be removed / rectified. The management response to the Audit Findings shall also cover explanation for not addressing any recommendations made by IA and reasons thereof. The IA shall submit a report of its findings to the ACB and IA shall also attend the ACB to present their findings. Actions taken by the Management on the observations shall be verified by the IA. The observations shall be closed by the IA once satisfied on the action taken and reported to the ACB.

8. Access to Information

Auditors shall have complete access to all information, programmes, database, records, facilities and personnel relevant to the performance of an audit. For any sensitive information where copies of information may not be provided in the interest of the Company; the Auditor shall have access to such data at the same premises where such sensitive information / data is kept or maintained.

Auditors shall ensure that confidentiality is maintained by the auditors for each and every information obtained during the audit.

9. Documentation of Audit

Auditor shall prepare audit documentation and trail based on which the Audit conclusions are arrived. The documents may be kept in paper form or in electronic form.

10. Auditors Fees

Audit Fees shall be in terms of applicable regulatory provisions and shall be reasonable and commensurate with their respective scope and coverage of audit, size and spread of assets, etc.



Remuneration of IA shall be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company or by Board approved delegated Authorities.

11. Performance Evaluation of the Internal Auditors

Performance of the Internal Auditor shall be evaluated by the Management and placed before the ACB, every year before consideration for reappointment. Evaluation checklist for internal audit is attached as Annexure 1 to the policy.

12. Conflict of interest

In the event of a conflict between this Policy and the extant regulations or laws (as may be amended, replaced, restated, from time to time), the regulations and laws shall prevail.



Annexure 1

Evaluation Parameters for Internal Audit

		_						
	Parameters			Grade 3	Grade 4	Grade 5	Average Score	Comments
Plan	ning and communication	,	,					
1.	Adequate communication of the internal Audit Plan							
2.	Sufficient planning and coordination on the approach and major areas to be covered by internal auditor before each phase of the internal audit.							
3.	All major areas of concern raised by Company / Management were reviewed by the internal audit team.							
Skill	s and experience			1	<u></u>	l.	l l	
4.	Internal auditor has sufficient professional experience, inter-personal skills and seniority to effectively carry out the work required							
5.	Internal auditor has sufficient expertise in the functional specializations (e.g., IT, risk assessment, LAS / LAP / CRE business) to effectively carry out the assessment required.							
6.	Audit Team understands the Company, its governance processes, risk environment, control framework and opportunities impacting the organisation.							
7.	Internal auditor consistently demonstrates objectivity in all its deliberations and findings.							
Wor	k programme							
8.	There is effective cooperation between the internal auditors and the management, including the avoidance of undue disruption to normal activities.							
9.	Internal audit findings contained in the draft reports discussed with management are:				1	•		
	Relevant, clear and constructive.							
	Appropriately categorized for risk parameters for the audit observation.							
	Sufficiently detailed to enable effective management action.							



	Issued on a timely basis				
10.	Internal audit findings are discussed with management prior to being tabled at the audit committee and management's responses are incorporated in the report.				
11.	Follow up on recommendations to see whether it has been implemented.				
12.	There are no major unresolved disagreements with internal audit.				





Created on	13 th May 2024	13 th May 2024						
No. of reviews	Date of review	Remarks if any						